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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Shareholders of CE Brands Inc. 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CE Brands Inc. (the 

Entity), which comprise: 

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at end of March 31, 2022  

• the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss for the year 

then ended 

• the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity (deficit) for 

the year then ended 

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 

the consolidated financial position of the Entity as at end of March 31, 2022, and its 

consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ 

report.   

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our opinion.     
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern  

 
We draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements, which indicates that the  
Company had net cash used in operating activities of $12,702,517 and incurred a net loss 
of $10,335,863 during the year ended March 31, 2022. At March 31, 2022, the Company 
had a working capital deficit of $1,135,427, a current portion of long-term debt of 
$2,176,430, and commitments of $8,999,418 due in the next 12 months.  The Company 
requires additional funds by way of debt or equity issuance to be able to continue to fund 
its operating, investing and financing activities in the future.    
 
As stated in Note 2 in the financial statements, these events or conditions, along with other 

matters as set forth in Note 2 in the financial statements, indicate that a material 

uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a 

going concern.  

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other Matter - Comparative Information 

The financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021, were audited by another 

auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on July 29, 

2021. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises the 

information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant 

Canadian Securities Commissions. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit 

and remain alert for indications that the other information appears to be materially misstated.   

We obtained the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with 

the relevant Canadian Securities Commissions as at the date of this auditors’ report.    

If, based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there 

is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in the 

auditors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for 

the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB, and for such internal control 

as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 

intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 

do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 

reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 

an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 

detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 

in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 

exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 

risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 

one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability 

to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 

required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue 

as a going concern. 
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

• Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 

relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all 

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 

entities or business activities within the group Entity to express an opinion on the 

financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance 

of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this auditors’ report is Jassie Kang. 

 

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Calgary, Canada 
June 22, 2022 
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CE Brands Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 

As at: 
 

  

    
 

March 31, 
2022 

March 31, 
2021  

Assets Note   

Current assets    

  Cash  $ 715,796 $ 397,337 

  Accounts receivable 6 765,107 243,490 

  Inventory 7 2,296,361 1,882,353 

  Prepaid expenses and deposits  865,009 311,452 

 Total current assets   4,642,273 2,834,632 

    
  Property, plant and equipment 8 69,818 361,983 

  Right of use asset 9 62,864 - 

  Intangible assets 10 16,191 719,947 

  Goodwill 10 9,110,415 9,223,203 

Total assets  13,901,561 $ 13,139,765 

    

Liabilities    

Current liabilities    

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11,22 $ 3,235,303 $ 5,905,618 

  Due to related parties 11 320,767 318,684 

  Warrant obligations 13 - 506,968 

  Current portion of lease liabilities  12 45,200 - 

  Convertible debenture derivatives 13 - 1,702,434 

  Current portion of long-term debt 13 2,176,430 7,249,959 

 Total current liabilities   5,777,700 15,683,663 

    
Non-current portion of lease liabilities 12 20,877 - 

Long-term debt 13 3,369,651 1,388,750 

Total liabilities  9,168,228 17,072,413 

    

Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)    

Share capital 17 32,511,792 18,860,572 

Equity component of convertible debt  1,114,384 1,009,951 

Warrants reserve 18 7,937,022 3,514,043 

Contributed surplus  1,955,989 1,151,221 

Accumulated other comprehensive income   (114,572) (133,016) 

Accumulated deficit   (38,671,282) (28,335,419) 

Total shareholders’ equity (deficit)   4,733,333 (3,932,648) 

    

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   $ 13,901,561 $ 13,139,765 

Going concern (Note 2b) 
Commitments (Note 24) 
Subsequent events (Notes 25) 
 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CE Brands Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss  
For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

  Note 
March 31, 

2022 
March 31,  

2021 

Revenue  14 $ 6,898,924  $ 9,270,470  

Cost of products and services  5,412,921 8,022,667 

Gross Profit  1,486,003 1,247,803 

    

Expenses    

Marketing  1,117,633 1,649,690 

Selling and distribution   853,164 1,186,794 

Wages and contractors  3,976,621 3,290,982 

Royalties and license fees  1,262,241 918,663 

Technology and related   488,549 282,743 

Professional fees  924,466 1,354,023 

General and administrative  639,790 433,742 

Depreciation 8,9 279,813 259,007 

Amortization  10 700,203 1,045,206 

Stock-based compensation 19 204,141 390,314 

Loss on foreign exchange  128,412 163,956 

     

Operating loss  (9,089,030) (9,727,317) 

Finance costs  16 (2,075,605) (3,778,059) 

Fair value gain (loss) on financial Instruments 13 2,209,402 (310,277) 

Listing expense 5 (1,416,407) - 

Loss on warrant obligation settlement 13,18 - (273,084) 

Other Income  - 39,893 

Loss before income tax  (10,371,640) (14,048,843) 

Income tax recovery 20 (35,777) - 

Net loss  (10,335,863) (14,048,843) 

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year    

Gain (loss) on translation of foreign operations  18,444 (873,691) 

Total comprehensive loss  $ (10,317,419) $ (14,922,534) 

Loss per share    

    

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Share                 17 $(0.46) $(0.85) 
    

    
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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CE Brands Inc.  
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit) 
For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Note Share capital 
Equity component 
of convertible debt 

Warrants 
reserve  Contributed surplus 

Accumulated 
(deficit) 

Accumulated other 
comprehensive 

income (loss)  Total 

Balance at March 31, 2020  $14,098,504 $757,540 $2,171,470 $760,907 $(14,286,576) $740,675 $4,242,520 

Issuance of subscription units  178,312 - 52,288 - - - 230,600 

Issuance of shares  276,089 - - - - - 276,089 

Share issuance costs  (1,101) - - - - - (1,101) 

Issuance of convertible debentures  - 252,411 - - - - 252,411 

Warrants converted to shares  713,750 - - - - - 713,750 

Warrant obligation settlement  - - 1,240,431 - - - 1,240,431 

Issuance of warrants  - - 49,854 - - - 49,854 
Convertible debentures converted to 
common shares  3,595,018 - - - - - 3,595,018 

Stock-based compensation  - - - 390,314 - - 390,314 

Net loss for the year  - - - - (14,048,843) - (14,048,843) 

Other comprehensive loss  - - - - - (873,691) (873,691) 

Balance at March 31, 2021   $18,860,572 $1,009,951 $3,514,043 $1,151,221 $(28,335,419) $(133,016) $(3,932,648) 

         

Balance at March 31, 2021  $18,860,572 $1,009,951 $3,514,043 $1,151,221 $(28,335,419) $(133,016) $(3,932,648) 

Warrants converted to shares 17 380,601 - - - - - 380,601 
Shares issued in connection with public 
offering (net of share issuance cost) 5,17 10,654,849 - - - - - 10,654,849 
Warrants issued in connection with 
public offering 5,18 - - 4,047,296 - - - 4,047,296 
Agent options issued in connection 
with public offering 5,19 - - - 507,572 - - 507,572 
Consideration transferred to 
shareholders of CE Brands 5 1,316,445 - - - - - 1,316,445 
CEBI Options issued in reverse 
acquisition of CE Brands 5,19 - - - 92,359 - - 92,359 
CEBI IPO options issued in reverse 
acquisition of CE Brands 5,19 - - - 51,103 - - 51,103 
Repayment of convertible promissory 
note 13 - (2,744) - - - - (2,743) 
Equity portion of convertible debt, net 
of tax of $35,777 13 - 107,177 - - - - 107,176 
Issuance of warrants 18 - - 375,683 - - - 375,683 

Issuance of shares 17 1,452,657 - - (50,407) - - 1,402,250 

Equity financing costs 17 (153,332) - - - - - (153,332) 

Stock-based compensation  - - - 204,141 - - 204,141 

Net loss  - - - - (10,335,863) - (10,335,863) 

Other comprehensive loss  - - - - - 18,444 18,444 

Balance at March 31, 2022    $32,511,792 $1,114,384 $7,937,022 $1,955,989 $(38,671,282) $(114,572) $4,733,333 
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CE Brands Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

 

 

 

    
 Note  2022  2021 

Cash provided by (used in):      
Cash flows used in operating activities      
Net loss   $ (10,335,863) $ (14,048,843) 
Items not affecting cash:      
  Amortization and Depreciation 8,9  980,016  1,304,214 
  Accretion 16  315,191  2,571,520 
  Amortization of financing costs 16  561,886  76,028 
  Stock-based compensation   204,141  390,314 
  Fair value (gain) loss on warrants obligation 13  (506,968)  79,257 
  Fair value (gain) loss on convertible debenture 
  derivatives 16  (1,702,434) 

 
231,019 

  Loss on warrant obligation settlement 13  -  273,084 
  Loss on financial instrument settlement   225,564  - 
  Unrealized (gain) loss on foreign exchange   376,152  - 
  Deferred tax (recovery)   (35,777)  - 
  Listing expense 5  1,416,407  - 
  Related party loan forgiveness   -  66,845 
Change in non-cash working capital   21  (4,200,832)  4,434,658 

Net cash used in operating activities   (12,702,517)   (4,621,904) 

      
Cash flows from investing activities      

Purchase of property, plant, and equipment   -  (89,526) 

Disposal of property, plant, and equipment   40,062  - 

Net cash from (used in) investing activities   40,062   (89,526) 

      
Cash flows from financing activities      
Repayment of amounts due to related parties   -  (3,249) 
Proceeds from long-term debt   4,000,000  1,787,842 
Proceeds from shareholder loan   -  35,135 
Proceeds from factoring    1,558,724  1,925,280 
Proceeds from line of credit   14,087  665,588 
Repayment of long-term debt    (2,100,820)  (145,996) 
Repayment of lease liability   (23,433)  (252,410) 
Repayment of factoring    (2,838,785)  (458,687) 
Repayment of line of credit   (598,445)  (112,127) 
Repayment of senior secured debentures   (3,063,114)  - 
Repayment of other promissory notes   (622,879)  - 
Warrants converted to shares   380,601  - 
Proceeds from share issuance, net of share issue costs   1,288,000  - 
Cash acquired on reverse acquisition of CE Brands Inc.   25,000  - 
Shares issued in connection with public offering, net of 
share issue costs 

  15,209,718  - 

Issuance of share capital   -   943,248 
Changes in non-cash working capital 21  (243,528)  - 

Net cash from financing activities   12,985,126   4,384,624 

        

Effect of change in foreign exchange rates on cash   (4,212)   203,083 

      
Increase (decrease) in cash   318,459  (123,723) 

Cash, beginning of period   397,337   521,060 

      
Cash, end of period  $ 715,796 $ 397,337 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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CE Brands Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

 
1. Company overview 

 
CE Brands Inc. (“CEBI”) is a public company traded on the TSX-V exchange under the symbol CEBI.  
The Company’s headquarters are located in Calgary, Alberta and the address of its registered office is 
4310 Bankers Hall West, 888 – 3rd Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta, T2P 5C5. Through the use of sales 
data analytics, the Company selects growth consumer electronics products for sale through their direct-
to-consumer e-commerce platforms via global retail channels in multiple countries.   
 
On June 18, 2021, CE Brands Inc. acquired all of the outstanding shares of eBuyNow eCommerce Ltd. 
(“EBN”) by way of a three-cornered amalgamation with CE Brands retaining its name.  Upon 
completion, the shareholders of CE Brands held approximately 2% of the issued and outstanding 
shares of the Company and, as a result, EBN shareholders controlled 98% of the Company, resulting 
in a reverse take-over. The resulting financial statements are presented as a continuance of EBN 
(accounting acquirer), and comparative figures presented in the consolidated financial statements are 
those of EBN.  
 
CE Brands Inc. was incorporated in the Province of Alberta on October 15, 2018 under the Business 
Corporations Act (Alberta). 
 
Reference in these consolidated financial statements to “the Company” refers to EBN and its 
subsidiaries until June 17, 2021. As of June 18, 2021, “the Company” refers to the consolidated 
operations of CE Brands Inc. and the historical operations of EBN and its subsidiaries. 

 
2. Basis of presentation and going concern 

 
(a) Statement of compliance 

 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. These 
consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of the 
Company on June 22, 2022. 

 
(b) Going concern 

 
Going Concern 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which 
contemplates the realization of assets and the payment of liabilities in the ordinary course of 
business. Should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern, it may be unable to realize 
the carrying value of its assets and to meet its liabilities as they become due.  

 
At March 31, 2022, the Company had not achieved profitable operations since its inception and had 
accumulated a deficit of $38,671,282 (March 31, 2021 – $28,335,419), incurred a net loss of 
$10,335,863 for the year ended March 31, 2022 (March 31, 2021 - $14,048,843), and cash flow 
used in operating activities for the year ended March 31, 2022 of $12,702,517 (March 31, 2021 - 
$4,621,904).  At March 31, 2022, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $1,135,427 
(March 31, 2021 – deficiency of $12,849,031), a current portion of long-term debt of $2,176,430, 
and commitments of $8,999,418 due in the next 12 months (note 24). 
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CE Brands Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

Whether and when the Company can generate sufficient operating cash flows to pay for its 
expenditures and settle its obligations as they fall due subsequent to March 31, 2022 is uncertain. 
Subsequent to March 31, 2022 the Company entered into a $1,000,000 private placement of 
Convertible Notes (note 25). The Company also entered into additional financing arrangements for 
a US$2,250,000 (CAD $2,885,850) loan and separately, a binding term sheet with respect to a 
US$2,000,000 (CAD$2,598,800) loan facility (note 25).  These financing arrangements are subject 
to certain conditions in order for the Company to access funds as described in note 25. Management 
will require additional funds by way of debt or equity issuances to be able to continue to fund its 
operating, investing and financing activities in the future.  
 
There can be no assurance as to whether the Company will achieve profitable operations, that debt 
or equity financing will continue to be available or sufficient to meet the Company’s requirements or 
for other corporate purposes or, if debt or equity financing is available, that it will be available on 
terms acceptable to the Company. Moreover, future activities may require the Company to alter its 
capitalization significantly. The inability of the Company to achieve profitable operations or to access 
sufficient capital for its operations could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial 
condition, results of operations or prospects. These conditions create a material uncertainty which 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
 
These consolidated financial statements do not give effect to any adjustments which would be 
necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and, therefore, be 
required to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business 
and at amounts different than those reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Such 
adjustments could be material. 
 
Russia and Ukraine 
 
The geopolitical situation in Eastern Europe intensified in February 2022, with Russia’s invasion of 
Ukraine. The Russian war in Ukraine resulted in the U.S., UK, and the European Union member 
governments, among others, placing economic sanctions on numerous Russian entities, specific 
Russian-controlled entities, as well as Belarus. For the year ended March 31, 2022, sales to 
customers in Russia, Ukraine and Belarus made up approximately 3% of the Company’s full year 
revenue; however, the Company’s product may be sold by its customers to end users in these 
countries. The Company does not have significant contracts with customers in Russia and the 
Ukraine and the Company does not anticipate any material impact on the Company’s future results 
of operations or financial position associated with these events. The long-term impacts of the 
Russian war in Ukraine remain uncertain and will continue to be assessed in future periods. 
 
COVID-19 
 
On January 31, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus outbreak (COVID-
19) a “Public Health Emergency of International Concern” and on March 11, 2020, declared COVID-
19 a pandemic. The Company’s operations have been negatively impacted by the regional and 
global outbreak of COVID-19, and the continued length of time of this impact is unknown. Any 
quarantines, supply chain and labor shortages or other disruptions to the Company’s operations, or 
those of its customers, adversely impacted the Company’s revenues, ability to provide its products 
and services and operating results in fiscal 2021 and in fiscal 2022 and may continue to adversely 
impact the Company going forward. The extent to which the coronavirus impacts the Company’s 
results will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, 
including new information which may emerge concerning the severity of the coronavirus and actions 
taken to contain the coronavirus or its impact, among others. 
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CE Brands Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

 
 

(c) Basis of consolidation 
 
The Company, as the controlling company, consolidates all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All 
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation. 
Subsidiaries are those entities the Company controls by having the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies of the entity. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are 
currently exercisable are considered when assessing whether the Company controls another entity.  
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date the Company acquires control of them and are 
deconsolidated from the date control ceases. 

 
(d) Functional and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars (“CAD”), which is the 
Company’s functional currency. The functional currencies of the Company’s subsidiaries are as 
follows: 

Subsidiary Place of Incorporation Currency 
eBuyNow LLC USA United States Dollar (“USD”) 

eBuyNow eCommerce Ltd. United Kingdom British Pound (“GBP”) 

eBuyNow eCommerce B.V. Netherlands Euro (“EUR”) 

eBuyNow eCommerce, S. DE R.L. DE C.V. Mexico Mexican Peso (“MXN”) 

eBN eCommerce Private Limited India Indian Rupee (“INR”) 

PerimeterSafe Holdings Limited Canada CAD 

EBN Holdings Ltd. Canada CAD 

PerimeterSafe Home Monitoring Limited Canada CAD 

Premietech Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”) 

eBuyNow eCommerce Limited (ie. Cinatic) Hong Kong HKD 

Cinatic (Shenzhen) Technology Co., Ltd. China Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”) 

Premielink Company Limited Vietnam Vietnamese Dong (“VND”) 

 
(e) Basis of measurement 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
items where an alternative basis is required or permitted by IFRS. Details on these items are included 
below in Significant Accounting Policies. 

(f) Critical accounting estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and application of IFRS require the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the consolidated entity's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below in Critical Accounting Estimates and 
Assumptions. 
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CE Brands Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

 

(g) Accounting standards issued but not yet adopted 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
 
On January 23, 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
to clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments include 
specifying the conditions which exist at the end of the reporting period are those which will be used 
to determine if a right to defer settlement of a liability exists and expectations about events after the 
balance sheet date are not relevant. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2022. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of the 
standard on its consolidated financial statements. 

 
IFRS 3 Business combinations 
 
On May 14, 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations that added an 
explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognize contingent assets acquired in a business 
combination. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. 
The Company did not have a business combination in the year, but the Company expects to adopt 
the amendment to be applied for future business combinations. 
  
IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
 
On May 14, 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets providing guidance regarding the costs a company should include as the cost of 
fulfilling a contract when assessing whether a contract is onerous. The amendments specify that the 
cost of fulfilling a contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract and can either be 
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract or an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling 
contracts. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 
with comparative figures not restated. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of the 
standard on its consolidated financial statements. 
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CE Brands Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

3. Significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated. 

(a) Foreign currency 

(i) Foreign currency transactions 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Canadian Dollars using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at financial year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognized in profit or loss. 

(ii) Foreign operations 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and intangibles acquired 
in business combinations involving foreign operations, are translated into Canadian Dollars 
using the exchange rates at the financial year-end date. The revenues and expenses of 
foreign operations are translated into Canadian Dollars using the average exchange rates, 
which approximate the rates at the dates of the transactions, for the period. All resulting 
foreign exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash includes cash on hand and deposits held at call with financial institutions. Cash equivalents 
include other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. The Company did not have any cash equivalents at March 31, 2022 and 
2021. 

 
(c) Financial instruments 

 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

 
Classification 

 
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following three categories: 

- Assets carried at amortized cost (“Amortized Cost”) 
- Assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) 
- Assets carried at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”) 

 
The classification depends on both the Company’s business model for managing the financial 
instrument and the contractual terms of the instrument itself.  The Company has classified cash 
and accounts receivable as financial assets carried at amortized costs. 
 
A financial asset is classified as Amortized Cost if the objective of the business model is to hold 
the financial asset for the collection of the cash flows; and all contractual cash flows represent 
only principal and interest on that principal.  
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CE Brands Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

 
3.       Significant accounting policies (continued) – (c) Financial instruments  

A financial asset is classified as FVTOCI if the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; 
and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payment of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  The Company has 
no financial assets classified as FVTOCI. 
 
All financial assets that do not meet the criteria to be classified as Amortized Cost or FVTOCI are 
classified as FVTPL, which includes all derivative financial assets. The Company may make an 
irrevocable election to designate a financial asset that would otherwise be classified in another 
category as FVTPL. If the election is made it is irrevocable, meaning that asset must remain 
categorized as FVTPL until that asset is derecognized.  The Company has no financial assets 
classified as FVTPL. 
 
Purchases and sale of financial assets are recognized on the settlement date, which is the date 
in which the asset is delivered to or by the Company. Financial assets are derecognized when 
the rights to receive cash flows have expired or are transferred and the Company has transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.  
 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value net of transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method or fair value through profit and 
loss.  The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that discounts estimated stream of principal and interest cash flows, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts through the expected life of the financial liability, or where 
appropriate a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

 
The Company has classified lease liabilities, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, due to 
related parties and long-term debt as financial liabilities carried at amortized cost.  The Company 
has classified warrant obligations as financial liabilities measured at fair value at the end of each 
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.  
 
Financial liabilities are de-recognized from the statement of financial position when it is 
extinguished; for example, when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, forgiven, 
cancelled or expired or when the terms of an existing financial liability are substantially modified. 
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability extinguished or transferred to 
another party and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed) is recognized in profit or loss. 

Measurement 

 
Financial assets carried at Amortized Cost or FVTOCI are initially measured at their fair value 
plus transactions costs. Financial assets carried at FVTPL are initially measured at their fair value, 
with any associated transaction costs being immediately expensed through profit or loss.  
Subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on the category the asset has been 
assigned to. 
 
Gains or losses on assets carried at Amortized Cost are recorded in profit or loss upon 
derecognition, or earlier if the asset is impaired.  Gains or losses on assets carried at FVTPL are 
recorded in profit or loss in the period in which they occur. 
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CE Brands Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

 
3.       Significant accounting policies – (c) Financial instruments (continued) 

Impairment 

The Company recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses on its financial assets 
measured at amortized cost. Expected credit losses exist if, after initial recognition of the financial 
asset, one or more indicators exist that reduce estimated future cash flows from the financial 
asset and that impact can be reliably measured. The Company applies the simplified approach 
to expected credit loss measurement, which uses a lifetime expected impairment to determine 
the expected credit loss. The Company uses a combination of historical and forward-looking 
information to determine the appropriate expected credit loss. The carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced through an allowance account, and the loss is recognized in general and administrative 
expenses. 

 
(d) Determination of fair values 

 
Certain of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair 
value for financial assets and liabilities.  Fair values have been determined for measurement 
and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further information 
about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that 
asset or liability. 
  
The fair values of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and debt 
approximates their carrying values due to their short term to maturity.  
 
The significance of inputs used in making fair value measurements for assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value are examined and classified according to a fair value hierarchy. Fair values 
of assets and liabilities included in Level 1 are determined by reference to quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets and liabilities.  Assets and liabilities in Level 2 include valuations using 
inputs other than quoted prices for which all significant outputs are observable, either directly or 
indirectly and are based on valuation models and techniques where the inputs are derived from 
quoted indices.  Level 3 valuations are based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to 
the overall fair value measurement. 
 

(e) Accounts receivable 
 
Accounts receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. 
Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days.  In the event of sale of 
receivables and factoring, the Company derecognizes receivables when the Company has given 
up control or continuing involvement, which is deemed to have occurred when the Company has 
transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the receivables and the Company has transferred 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the receivables.  Prior to transferring the 
risks and rewards of ownership of receivables, the Company’s receivables are recognized to the 
extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the assets. In this case, the Company also 
recognizes an associated liability. The transferred receivable and associated liability are 
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained. 
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As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

3.       Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(f) Inventory 
 

Inventory consists of finished goods that are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value 
on an average cost basis. Costs of purchased inventory include purchase and delivery costs, net 
of rebates and discounts received or receivable.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.  

 
(g) Property, plant and equipment 

 
Property, plant and equipment is presented at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment. Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the items. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, 
plant and equipment over their expected useful lives as follows: 

 
Automobile    – 5 years 
Machinery and Equipment  – 3 years 
Computer Equipment    – 3 years 
Tooling and Other Equipment – 3 years 
Furniture and equipment     – 5 years 

 
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each reporting date. 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognized upon disposal or when there is no 
future economic benefit to the Company. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the 
disposal proceeds are recognized in profit or loss. 
 

(h) Leases 
 
A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying 
leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.  Assets and 
liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis, determined as the 
present value of future lease payments at commencement date, discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily determinable, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate 
on similar assets.  Right-of-use assets are depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the end of the lease term. 
 

(i) Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Intangible assets acquired through asset acquisitions or business 
combinations are initially recognized at fair value, based on an allocation of the purchase price. 
The intangible assets consist of acquired technology and customer relationships and are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of three years. 
 
The amortization method and estimated useful lives are reviewed annually, or more frequently, if 
required and are adjusted as appropriate. 
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CE Brands Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

3.       Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(j) Accounts payable 
 

Trade payables are amounts due to suppliers for merchandise purchased or services received in 
the ordinary course of business.  

 
(k) Long-term debt 

 
Long-term debt is initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost. Any difference between cost and the face value is recognized in the 
statement of loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Amounts 
classified as long-term debt are due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting date; any 
amounts due within 12 months are reclassified to short-term debt in the reporting period in which 
they become due within 12 months.  
 

(l) Classification as debt or equity  
 

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Company are classified as either financial liabilities or 
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions 
of a financial liability and an equity instrument. 

 
(m) Equity Instruments  

 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity 
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognized as 
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 
 

(n) Compound financial instruments 
 
The components of compound instruments are classified separately as financial liabilities and 
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. At the issuance date, 
the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a 
similar non-convertible instrument. This amount is recorded as a liability based on amortized cost 
until the instrument is converted or matures. The equity component is determined by deducting 
the liability component from the total fair value of the compound instrument and is recognized as 
equity, net of income tax effects, with no subsequent re-measurement. 
 

(o) Research and development costs 
 
Internally generated expenses on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new 
scientific or technical knowledge and understanding are recognized in profit or loss as an expense 
in the period in which they are incurred. Internally generated development costs are capitalized 
when the costs are expected to provide future benefits with reasonable certainty and the costs 
meet all the criteria for capitalization. No internal development costs have been capitalized as at 
and during the fiscal periods ended March 31, 2022 and 2021. 
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As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

3.       Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(p) Income taxes 
 
Income tax expense or recovery is comprised of current and deferred tax. Income tax expense or 
recovery is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in 
equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.  
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date, plus any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous years. 
 
Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all 
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 
which those deductible temporary differences, including carry forward of non‐capital losses, can 
be utilized. 

 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences 
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset, and they are related to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the same 
taxable entity, or on different tax entities, where the intention is to settle current tax liabilities and 
asset on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will 
be available against which the temporary difference can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is not probable that the 
related tax benefit will be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future profit will 
allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
 

(q) Stock-based compensation 
 
The Company uses the fair value method for valuing stock-based compensation. Under this 
method, the cost attributed to stock options and warrants granted is measured at the fair value 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model at the grant date; compensation cost for options is 
expensed over the vesting period with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. A 
forfeiture rate is estimated on the grant date and is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options 
that vest. Upon the settlement of the stock options and warrants the previously recognized value 
is recorded as an increase to share capital.  
 

(r) Share capital 
 
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the common 
shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 
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As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

3.       Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(s) Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue is recognized in a manner that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to the 
customer at an amount that reflects the consideration expected to be received in exchange for 
transferring those goods or services. For each contract with a customer, the Company recognizes 
revenue in accordance with IFRS15. 
 
The Company’s sources of revenue consist of:  
 
eCommerce Product Sales  
 
The Company sells a range of electronic products such as smartwatches and baby monitors. The 
Company generates Product Sales over its E-Commerce Platforms (“eCPs”). Sales are 
recognized at a point in time, when control of the products has transferred, being when the 
products are shipped to the end customer, the customer has full discretion over the use of the 
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the 
products. When the products have been shipped from the warehouse, the risks of damage and 
loss have been transferred from the Company and either the customer has accepted the products 
in accordance with the sales contract or objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have 
been satisfied. Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the customer 
purchases the product online. The Company does not grant any form of deferred payment terms 
to customers. It is the Company’s policy to sell its products to the end customer with a right of 
return within 30 days. The Company’s cost of products and services from eCommerce Product 
Sales consists of supplier product costs, shipping costs, import and duty fees, inventory 
management and product return handling costs. 
 
Business to Business (“B2B”) Product Sales 
 
B2B product sales are recognized when control of the products has transferred, as defined under 
distribution agreements with customers.  Payment of the transaction price is due as per the terms 
of the customer agreement. The Company’s cost of products and services from B2B product 
sales vary depending on the customer distribution agreement but generally consists of supplier 
product costs. 

 
Principal versus Agent  
 
The Company follows the guidance provided in IFRS 15 for determining whether the Company is 
acting as the principal or agent in its arrangements and whether the Company should recognize 
revenue based on the gross amount billed to purchasers or the net amount retained. This 
determination is a matter of judgment that depends on the facts and circumstances of each 
arrangement. The Company recognizes revenue from E-Commerce product sales and B2B 
product sales on a gross basis as the Company is primarily responsible for the fulfilment and has 
control of the promised good and therefore is the principal in the arrangement with purchasers. 
Sales taxes collected from purchasers and remitted to government authorities are excluded from 
revenue. 
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As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

3.       Significant accounting policies – (s) Revenue recognition (continued) 

Multiple Performance Obligations  
 
For E-Commerce product sales and B2B product sales, the Company assesses whether or not 
the sale of the product and the related shipping obligation are separately identifiable promises. 
The total transaction price is determined at the inception of the contract and allocated to each 
performance obligation based on their relative standalone selling prices. The Company generally 
determines stand-alone selling prices based on prices charged to customers or using expected 
cost plus margin.  

 
Right of Return 
 
Refund liabilities (included in trade and other payables) and a right to the returned goods (included 
in other current assets) are recognized for products expected to be returned. Accumulated 
experience is used to estimate such returns at the time of sale at a portfolio level (expected value 
method). The estimated amount of returns are reassessed at each reporting date. The Company’s 
obligation to repair or replace faulty products under the standard warranty terms is recognized as 
a provision. 
 

(t) Provisions 
 
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 

 
(u) Future royalty obligations  

 
Where the Company is committed to pay royalties on product sales of acquired brand licenses, 
the future royalty obligation is based on the Company’s estimate of the related brands future sales 
or minimum guaranteed royalty payments as stipulated in the agreements. The Company has 
disclosed committed future royalty obligations in note 24. 

 
(v) Loss per share  

 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profit for the period available to ordinary 
shareholders by the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 
Diluted earnings per share is calculated using the weighted-average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding adjusted to include the potentially dilutive effect of common equivalent shares 
outstanding. 
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As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

3.       Significant accounting policies – (continued) 

(w) Business combinations and goodwill 
 
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The acquiree's 
identifiable assets and liabilities are generally recognized at their fair values at the date of 
acquisition. Acquisition-related transaction costs are expensed as incurred. The fair value of 
contingent consideration is considered part of the consideration transferred and included in the 
total purchase price on the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not 
remeasured subsequent to the acquisition date (other than for measurement period adjustments) 
and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is a 
liability, is remeasured to fair value at each reporting date until the contingency is resolved, with 
changes in fair value recorded in other income.  
 
Goodwill is recognized at the acquisition date as the excess of the fair value of consideration 
transferred less the net recognized amount (generally fair value) of identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed. When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized 
immediately in profit or loss. Goodwill is not subject to amortization and is measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. 
 
The allocation of the purchase price to the net assets acquired may be adjusted to reflect new 
information obtained about facts and circumstances that exist at the acquisition date, up to a 
maximum of 12 months following the date of acquisition. Changes to the allocation of the purchase 
price during this measurement period are recognized retrospectively. 

 
(x) Impairment 

 
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently when there is an indication that it 
may be impaired. Cash-generating units are the smallest identifiable groups of assets that 
generate cash inflows from the continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of 
other assets or cash-generating units. For the purposes of assessing for indications of impairment 
and impairment testing, assets that do not generate largely independent cash inflows are grouped 
into cash-generating units. The recoverable amount of a cash generating unit is the higher of its 
fair value less costs of disposal (FVLCD) and its value in use (VIU). In assessing VIU, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted at a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In assessing FVLCD, 
level 1 or level 2, inputs such as market based transactions are used.  

 
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss and allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill allocated to the cash generating unit and then to reduce the carrying amounts of 
the other assets in the cash generating unit on a pro rata basis.  

 
An impairment loss is reversed if there is a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount, with the exception of impairment losses on goodwill, which are not reversed. 
When an impairment loss is reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed what 
the carrying amount would have been had no impairment losses been recognized for the asset in 
prior years. 
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As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

 
3.       Significant accounting policies - (continued) 

 
(y) Investment tax credits and government grants 

 
Government grants include funding for research and product development support. Research and 
product development funding is recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the 
Company has complied with the conditions attached to the funding arrangement and the funding 
will be received. Government assistance is recognized when receipt of the assistance is 
reasonably assured. Reasonable assurance is determined based on the Company’s past 
experience with claims and collections. Research and product development funding and 
investment tax credits are presented as a reduction in research and development expenses, 
unless it is for reimbursement of an asset, in which case it is recognized as a reduction in the 
carrying amount of the applicable asset. Grants related to income are recorded through the 
consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss. In Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021 the 
Company received funding from the Canadian Emergency Wage Subsidy (“CEWS”) and these 
proceeds were recorded as a reduction of wages and contractors’ expenses.  

 
4.      Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, in accordance with IFRS, requires 
management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates, judgments and assumptions in these 
financial statements are discussed below. Actual results may differ from the estimates made by 
management. 
 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the actual results. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future 
years affected.  
 
The following are the significant judgments, estimates and assumptions that management has made in 
the process of applying the Company's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognized in these consolidated financial statements: 
 

Significant judgments in applying accounting policies: 

(a) Functional currency 

Management considers the functional currency applied to each entity to be the currency that most 
faithfully represent the economic effect of the underlying transactions, events and conditions of 
that entity. This determination factors in the currency in which the entities measure their 
performance and report results, as well as the currency in which they receive equity injections 
from investors and obtain credit facilities. This determination also considers the competitive 
environment in which the entities operate. 
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4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions (continued) 

 
(b) CGU determination 

For assessing impairment of non-financial assets, the Company must determine its CGUs. Assets 
and liabilities are grouped into CGUs at the lowest level of separately identified cash flows. 
Determination of what constitutes a CGU is subject to management judgment. The asset 
composition of a CGU can directly impact the recoverability of assets included within the CGU. 
Management has determined that the Company consists of one CGU. 

 
(c) Reportable segments 

Management uses judgements in considering the information used by decision makers that allows 
users to understand the entity’s main activities in determining the reportable segments of the 
business. 

(d) Financial instrument valuations 

The financial liabilities that the Company has entered require management to make estimates for 
significant inputs into the formulae and methodologies employed, as well and making judgements 
regarding the likelihood of future events. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 

The following are the key estimates and related assumptions concerning the sources of estimation 
uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities: 

 
(a) Deferred taxes 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences and for tax loss carry 
forwards. The valuation of deferred tax assets is based on management's estimates of future 
taxable profits in different tax jurisdictions against which the temporary differences and loss carry 
forwards may be utilized. Income taxes comprise current and deferred tax. Current tax represents 
the expected tax payable on taxable income for the year using enacted or substantively enacted 
tax rates at the end of the reporting year, and any adjustments to tax payable related to prior 
years.  Deferred tax financial reporting purposes and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are 
measured using the substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the 
differences are expected to reverse. Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent that 
realization is considered probable. The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is 
dependent on the generation of future taxable income during the years in which those temporary 
differences become deductible. Management considers projected future taxable income, 
uncertainties related to the industry in which the Company operates and income tax planning 
strategies in making this assessment.  
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4.   Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions (continued) 

(b) Estimate of useful lives of intangible assets 

Useful lives over which intangible assets are depreciated or amortized are based on 
management's judgment of future use and performance. Expected useful lives are reviewed 
annually for any change to estimates and assumptions. 

 
(c) Goodwill valuation 

The Company uses estimates in determining the recoverable amount of its cash-generating unit 
(“CGU”) in performing annual impairment testing of goodwill. The determination of the recoverable 
amount for the purpose of impairment testing requires the use of significant estimates.  For the 
fiscal 2022, the recoverable amount was determined using a fair value less cost of disposal 
(“FVLCD”) methodology using a market approach. The FVLCD calculation relies on arm’s length 
transactions between unrelated, knowledgeable and willing parties that are under no compulsion 
to act, and therefore would qualify as Level 2 inputs. No reasonably possible change of any of the 
key assumptions would result in a carrying amount higher than the recoverable amount. 

 
(d) Stock-based compensation 

The amounts recognized relating to the fair value of stock options and warrants are based on 
estimates of future volatility in the Company’s share prices, the expected lives of options and 
warrants, the risk-free interest rate, and other relevant assumptions. Volatility is estimated based 
on the average price volatility of common shares of a comparative group of public companies over 
the preceding period equaling the expected lives of the Company’s options. 
 

(e) Compound financial instruments 

Certain financial instruments are comprised of a liability and an equity component. The 
determination of the amount allocated to the liability and equity components requires 
management to estimate various components and characteristics of present value calculations 
used in determining the fair value of the instrument, including the market interest rates of non-
convertible debentures. 
 

(f) Return / Warranty provisions 

The Company uses estimates to record a liability for product return costs at the time revenue is 
recognized. The Company’s product return policy to its customers generally provides a 30-day 
return period (if applicable under the terms of the contract). The Company’s estimate of product 
returns is based on historical experience of product returns. 
 
The Company uses estimates to record a liability for product warranty costs at the time product 
revenue is recognized.  The Company’s standard warranty obligation is 24-months. The 
Company’s estimate of costs to service its warranty obligations is based on historical experience 
of repair and replacement of the associated products and expectations of future conditions. The 
warranty obligation is affected by product failure rates and the related use of materials, labour 
costs and freight incurred in correcting any product failure. 
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5. Reverse acquisition of CE Brands Inc. by eBuyNow eCommerce Ltd. 
 

On January 28, 2021, CE Brands Inc. and EBN entered into an Amended and Restated Amalgamation 
Agreement (the “Amalgamation Agreement”) in connection with the Amalgamation.  Pursuant to the 
Amalgamation Agreement: 
 

● The full corporate name of the resulting issuer was changed to “CE Brands Inc” (the “Resulting 
Issuer”); 

● The common shares of CE Brands were consolidated on a 20.75-for-one basis into shares of the 
Resulting Issuer; and  

● The class “A” common voting shares of EBN (the “EBN Shares”) were consolidated on a five-for-
one basis; 

● A wholly-owned subsidiary of CE Brands and EBN amalgamated under the British Columbia 
Business Corporations Act (BCBCA) and was continued as one corporation; and 

● Pursuant to the amalgamation, the holders of EBN Shares exchanged those EBN Shares for 
Resulting Issuer shares on a one-for-one basis 

 
On June 18, 2021, EBN completed a reverse takeover transaction with CE Brands Inc. which constituted 
a qualifying transaction (as defined in the policies of the TSX Venture Exchange) for CE Brands Inc. (the 
“Qualifying Transaction” or the “Transaction”) involving EBN. 
 
Immediately before the Qualifying Transaction, CE Brands Inc. consolidated its common shares 
“Common Shares”) on a 20.75-for-one basis. Existing stock options and warrants outstanding in CE 
Brands Inc. were also consolidated on a 20.75-for-one basis and holders were entitled to acquire shares 
in the capital of the resulting issuer for each stock option and warrant held immediately before the 
amalgamation. 
 
In connection with the reverse takeover transaction, the following occurred: 
 

● On June 18, 2021, the Company completed a public offering (the “Offering”) of 4,156,626 
subscription receipts (the “Subscription Receipts”) for gross proceeds of $17,250,000, each 
subscription receipt entitles the holder to one common share and one common share purchase 
warrant. The Company converted the Subscription Receipts into a total 4,156,626 common 
shares (the “Underlying Shares”) and 4,156,626 common share purchase warrants (the 
“Underlying Warrants”), each of which entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the 
Company (a “Warrant Share”), for a purchase of price of C$7.50 per Warrant Share, for a period 
of 24 months following the date on which the Underlying Warrant was issued. 
 

● Immediately before the Qualifying Transaction, holders of EBN common shares, warrants and 
stock options had their securities consolidated on a five-for-one basis.  Pursuant to the Qualifying 
Transaction, the Company issued 18,141,970 Common Shares, 1,395,000 options to purchase 
Common Shares, 3,230,342 warrants to purchase Common Shares, and US$1,388,888 (CAD 
$1,964,629) aggregate principal amount of unsecured notes that were convertible into an 
aggregate of 624,721 Common Shares, and C$1,174,785 aggregate principal amount of 
unsecured notes that were convertible into an aggregate of 313,277 Common Shares to former 
security holders of EBN. 
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Immediately after the completion of the Qualifying Transaction and conversion of the Subscription 
Receipts, the issued and outstanding share capital of the Company consisted of 22,713,054 Common 
Shares, 1,793,073 options to purchase Common Shares, 7,386,969 warrants to purchase Common 
Shares, US$1,388,888 (CAD $1,964,629) aggregate principal amount of unsecured notes that were 
convertible into an aggregate of 624,721 Common Shares, and C$1,174,785 aggregate principal amount 
of unsecured notes that were convertible into an aggregate of 313,277 Common Shares to former 
security holders of EBN. 
 
Under IFRS, the share exchange is considered to be a share-based payment in substance.  That is, the 
share exchange is measured at the fair value of the company acquired. Accordingly, the share exchange 
is accounted for as a reverse acquisition and no goodwill is recorded. Under reverse acquisitions, the 
post reverse acquisition comparative historical financial statements of the legal acquirer, CEBI, are those 
of the legal acquiree, EBN, which is considered the accounting acquirer. These financial statements 
reflect the statements of financial positions, the results of operations and the cash flows of EBN and its 
subsidiaries at their historical carrying amounts. 

 
Through the Transaction, CEBI acquired legal control of EBN by way of a share exchange and 
subsequent amalgamation. However, the shareholders of EBN gained voting control of CEBI pursuant to 
the issuance of CEBI common shares to the shareholders of EBN, representing a 98% majority interest 
in CEBI. EBN is determined to be the accounting acquirer and, consequently, the transaction has been 
accounted for as a reverse acquisition of CEBI by EBN. As CEBI does not meet the definition of a 
business, the transaction is accounted for as a reverse acquisition of net assets, pursuant to IFRS 2 
Share Based Payments. 
 
The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred by the accounting acquirer, EBN for its 
interest in the accounting acquiree, CEBI of $1,459,907 (or 414,458 common shares, 24,096 initial public 
offering options and 41,446 resulting issuer options) is determined based on the fair value of the equity 
interest EBN would have had to give to the owners of CEBI, before the reverse acquisition, to provide 
the same percentage equity interest in the combined entity that results from the reverse acquisition, and 
is recorded as an increase in common shares and contributed surplus respectively in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 
 
The net assets of CEBI acquired on June 18, 2021 are as follows: 
 

Cash  $ 25,000 

Accounts receivable  25,000 

Accounts payable  (6,500) 

Net assets acquired  $ 43,500 

   
 
In accordance with IFRS 2, Share-Based Payments, any excess of the fair value of the shares issued by 
the Company over the value of the net monetary assets of CEBI, is recognized in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive loss. 

 
The consideration transferred in excess of net assets acquired in connection with the reverse acquisition 
was $1,416,407. 
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6. Financial risk management 

Overview 
 
The Company’s operations expose it to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk which are all financial 
risks that arise as a result of its operating and financing activities.  The Company employs risk 
management strategies and policies to ensure that any exposure to risk is in compliance with the 
Company’s business objectives and risk tolerance levels. While the Directors have the overall 
responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management framework, 
management has the responsibility to administer and monitor these risks 

 
Credit Risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. 

 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is as follows: 
 

  March 31, 2022   March 31,2021 

Cash $ 715,796 $ 397,337 

Accounts receivable 765,107 243,490 

Total $ 1,480,903 $ 640,827 

 
Cash consists of cash bank balances.  The Company manages the credit exposure related to cash by 
selecting financial institutions with high credit ratings.  Given these credit ratings, management does 
not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. 

 
The aging of the Company’s receivables is as follows: 
 

    March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021 

Not past due  $ 668,840 $ 25,460  

31 – 60 days  31,099 7,023  

61 – 90 days  69,796 7,183  

More than 90 days  17,477 206,183  

Allowance for expected credit loss   (22,105) (2,359) 

Total   $ 765,107 $ 243,490  

 
There is credit risk with respect to accounts receivables, as the Company has a small number of 
customers, internationally dispersed. The Company has policies in place to monitor this credit risk and 
based on the history of collections with these customers, the Company does not consider this risk to 
be significant. As at March 31, 2022, two customers accounted for 60% of the Company’s accounts 
receivable (March 31, 2021 – three customers accounted for 62% of accounts receivable) and these 
two customers accounted for 25% of its revenue (year ended March 31, 2021 – three customers 
accounted for 9% of revenue). The Company considers accounts greater than 60 days old overdue. 

Accounts receivable includes $87,273 and $213,366 of accounts that are greater than 60 days old as 

at March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021, respectively.  The Company has recognized an expected credit 
loss of $22,105 and $2,359 on the accounts receivable at March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021, 
respectively. 
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6. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of the Company’s operational liquidity requirements: (a) 
the Company will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction on the due date; (b) the Company will 
be forced to sell financial assets at a value which is less than the fair value; or, (c) the Company may  
be unable to settle or recover a financial asset at all.  As discussed in the Basis of presentation – Going 
concern note above, the Company has a working capital deficit of $1,135,427 at March 31, 2022, as 
such there is uncertainty with respect to the Company being able to generate sufficient cash flows to 
settle its obligations.  The Company will require additional funding to reduce its exposure to liquidity 
risk. 

 
The Company's operating cash requirements are continuously monitored and adjusted as input 
variables change. The Company continuously monitors its actual and forecast cash flows to review 
whether there are adequate reserves to meet the maturing profiles of its liabilities.  The Company 
closely monitors its cash and manages liquidity risk by reducing spending, improving profitability and 
raising funds as required. As these variables change, liquidity risks may necessitate the Company to 
conduct equity issues or obtain debt financing.   

 
The following table outlines the maturities of the Company’s liabilities: 
 
Contractual maturities of 
financial liabilities  Less than 1 year 1-3 years Total 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 3,235,303 $ - $ 3,235,303 
Lease liabilities 45,200 20,877 66,078 
Due to related parties 320,767 - 320,767 
Long-term debt (1) (2) 2,365,420 4,000,000 6,365,420 

As at March 31, 2022 $ 5,966,690 $ 4,020,877 $ 9,987,568 

(1) The current portion of long-term debt includes USD$611,874 pertaining to the repayment of amounts received for the sale of future 
receivables. Repayment of all amounts is estimated based on the March 31, 2022, US to Canadian dollar exchange rate of 1.2505. 

(2) Presented as the contractual amount of long-term debt instruments gross of deferred financing fees of $188,990. 

 
Market risk 

 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign currency 
exchange rates, will affect the fair value of financial instruments. The objective of the Company is to 
manage and mitigate market risk exposures within acceptable limits, while maximizing returns. 

 
Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest 
rates. The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on the long-term debt that bear interest at variable 
rates of interest. A 1% increase in the interest rate would have a $55,461 increase on the net loss and 
accumulated deficit of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2022 (year ended March 31, 2021 - 
$90,491).   
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6. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

Foreign exchange risk 
 

The Company’s financial performance is closely linked to foreign exchange rates.  While the Company 
may employ the use of various financial instruments in the future to manage these price exposures, the 
Company is not currently using any such instruments.  
 
At March 31, 2022, the Company’s exposure to currency risk consists of the following: 

 

In Foreign Currency USD GBP EUR MXN INR HKD 
Cash 38,310 75,814 31,902 219,645 651,574 1,159,417 
Accounts Receivable - - - - 1,175,658 2,898,912 
Accounts Payable and 
accrued liabilities 

107,907 42,402 10,402 142,347 - 12,798,405 

Prepaids and deposits 72,567 34,265 3,411 - 56,047 3,383,495 
Lease liability - - - - - 414,279 
Debt 612,315 - - - - - 

 

In CAD USD GBP EUR MXN INR HKD 
Cash  47,872   124,464   44,194   14,892   10,731   184,927  
Accounts Receivable  -     -     -     -     19,363   462,377  
Accounts Payable and 
accrued liabilities 

 134,840   69,611   14,409   9,651    
2,014,346  

Prepaids and deposits  90,680   56,252   4,725   -     923   539,668  
Lease liability  -     -     -     -     -     66,078  
Debt  765,148   -     -     -     -     -    

 
A 1% increase in the exchange rate would have a $47,022 impact on the comprehensive loss and 
accumulated deficit of the Company for the nine months ended March 31, 2022 (March 31, 2021 - 
$40,273) 

 
Capital management 

 
The Company’s capital management policy is to maintain a capital base that optimizes the Company’s 
ability to grow, maintain investor and creditor confidence and to provide a platform to create value for 
its shareholders. The Company intends to maintain a flexible capital structure to maximize its ability to 
pursue additional investment opportunities, which considers the Company’s early stage of 
development and the requirement to sustain future development of the business.  The Company will 
manage its capital structure and make changes to it in the light of changes to economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of the nature of the business. The Company considers its capital structure to 
include shareholders’ equity/deficit and working capital deficit.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Company may from time to time issue shares and adjust its capital spending to manage 
its current and projected capital structure. 

 
 
 
  



 

26 
 

CE Brands Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

 
7. Inventory 

 March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021 

Materials $ 163,346 $ 129,247  

Finished goods 2,133,015 1,753,106 

Inventory $ 2,296,361 $ 1,882,353 

 
 
During the year ended March 31, 2022, $5,412,921 (2021 - $8,022,667) of inventory was recognized in 
cost of products sold. 

 
During the year ended March 31, 2022, $nil of inventories were written down to net realizable value (2021 
- $nil). The company has provided a provision for $21,755 (2021 - $107,341) for slow moving inventory, 
and a provision for damaged goods inventory for $76,667 (2021 - $63,512). This charge is included within 
the cost of products and services in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 

8. Property, plant and equipment 

 

 
Computer 

Equipment 
Tooling and 

Other Equipment 
Total 

Cost    
Balance at March 31, 2020 $ 87,421  $ 729,773  $ 817,194  
  Reclassification   - (24,612) (24,612) 
  Additions 1,300 88,226 89,526 

Balance at March 31, 2021 $ 88,721 $ 793,387 $ 882,108 
  Reclassification   (3,876) 731 (3,145) 
  Disposals - (90,322) (90,322) 
  Additions 588 - (588) 

Balance at March 31, 2022 $ 85,433 $ 703,796 $ 789,228 

    

 
Computer 

Equipment 
Tooling and 

Other Equipment 
Total 

Accumulated amortization    
Balance at March 31, 2020 $ 31,924 $ 253,862 $ 285,786 
  Reclassification 985 (25,653) (24,668) 
  Depreciation 28,828 230,179 259,007 

Balance at March 31, 2021 $ 61,737 $ 458,388 $ 520,125 
  Reclassification   (4,983) (5,903) (10,886) 
  Disposal - (47,036) (47,036) 
  Depreciation 21,690 235,518 257,208 

Balance at March 31, 2022 $ 78,444 $ 640,967 $ 719,411 

    

 
Computer 

Equipment 
Tooling and 

Other Equipment 
Total 

Net book value    

March 31, 2021 $ 26,984 $ 334,999 $ 361,983 

March 31, 2022 $ 6,989 $ 62,829 $ 69,818 
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9. Right of use asset 
 
The right of use asset consists of an office lease and consists of the following: 

 
Balance at March 31, 2020 $ 227,336  

  Depreciation (227,336) 

Balance at March 31, 2021 $ - 

  Additions 
  Depreciation 

89,058 
(26,194) 

Balance at March 31, 2022 $ 62,864 

 
10. Intangible assets and goodwill 

 
Intangible assets consist of the following: 
 

 
Customer 

Relationships 
Technology 

Intangibles 
Subtotal  

Goodwill 

Cost      

Balance at March 31, 2020 $ 1,367,159 $ 1,359,362 $ 2,726,521 $ 10,386,974 

  Additions - -  -  - 

  Foreign currency translation (159,439) (144,471)  (303,910)  (1,163,771)  

Balance at March 31, 2021 $ 1,207,720 $ 1,214,891 $ 2,422,611 $ 9,223,203 

  Additions - - - - 

  Foreign currency translation (15,453) (14,077) (29,530) (112,788) 

Balance at March 31, 2022 $ 1,192,267 $ 1,200,813 $ 2,393,080 $ 9,110,415 

     

Accumulated amortization     

Balance at March 31, 2020 $ 524,162 $ 498,339 $ 1,022,501                   $ - 

  Amortization 411,209 412,698 823,907 - 

  Foreign currency translation (75,450) (68,294) (143,744) - 

Balance at March 31, 2021 $ 859,921 $ 842,743 $ 1,702,664 $ - 

  Amortization 345,992 354,211 700,203 - 

  Foreign currency translation (13,646) (12,332) (25,977) - 

Balance at March 31, 2022 $ 1,192,267 $ 1,184,622 $ 2,376,889 $ - 

     

     

Net book value     

March 31, 2021 $ 347,799 $ 372,148 $ 719,947 $ 9,223,203 

March 31, 2022 $ - $ 16,191 $ 16,191 $ 9,110,415 

 
The recoverable amount of the Company’s CGU was determined using fair value less costs of 
disposal (“FVLCD”) with reference to market capitalization of the Company and other market 
metrics.   The impairment test of goodwill at March 31, 2022 concluded that the recoverable amount 
exceeded the carrying amount of the CGU, including goodwill, and as such no goodwill impairment 
existed.  At March 31, 2022 the enterprise value implied the Company’s market capitalization was 
$20,449,808 compared to a carrying value of $10,359,414. 
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11. Related parties 

The amounts due to related parties include amounts due to shareholders, directors and a company 
controlled by directors and are non-interest bearing, unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment. 

   March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021 

Due to current/former shareholders and officers $ 320,767 $ 318,684  

  $ 320,767 $ 318,684  

 
At March 31, 2022, accounts payable and accrued liabilities includes $291,672 of amounts owed to 
directors and officers of the Company (March 31, 2021 – $418,608).  
 
At March 31, 2022, accounts receivable includes $17,956 of amounts owed to officers of the Company 
(March 31, 2021 - $17,956). 
 
On November 12, 2021, the Company completed a debt financing which was determined to constitute 
a related party transaction as it involved the Company issuing securities to and borrowing money from 
entities over which Vesta Wealth Partners Ltd. (“Vesta”) exercises certain discretionary control. The 
Board determined Vesta to be a related party of the Company as a result of a director of the Company, 
having certain discretionary investment decision-making control in respect of Vesta. Refer to note 13 
for additional details. 
 

 
12. Lease liability 

 

 March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021 

Opening balance $ - $ 267,690  

 Additions 89,058 - 

   Foreign currency translation 452 - 

Payments (23,433) (267,690) 

Closing balance $ 66,077 $ - 

Current portion of lease liabilities $ 45,200  $ -  

Non-current portion of lease liabilities   $ 20,877 $ - 
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13. Debt obligations, warrant obligations and convertible debenture derivatives 

   

  March 31, 2022  March 31, 2021 

Convertible debenture notes   

Opening balance    $ 2,891,159  $ 3,448,329  

Convertible debt liability - 1,071,092  

Accretion expense 112,243 1,900,341  

Converted to common shares - (3,528,603) 

Convertible debenture drawn 3,857,099 - 

Settled, net of deferred financing fees (2,448,291) - 

Closing balance $ 4,427,227  $ 2,891,159  

   

Senior secured debentures   

Opening balance $ 2,515,557  $ 1,844,377    

Settled (2,718,505) - 

Accretion expense 202,948 671,180 

Closing balance $ -  $ 2,515,557  

   

Other long-term debt and promissory 
notes 

  

Opening balance $ 2,676,854  $ 893,386 

Promissory notes and other loans, drawn 1,558,766 2,336,816  

Settled, net of deferred financing fees (3,116,767) (553,360) 

Closing balance $ 1,118,853  $ 2,676,854  

   

Line of credit   

Opening balance $ 555,139 $ - 

Issued net of deferred financing fees - 593,400 

Borrowings - 72,188 

Repayments (584,359) (112,127) 

Amortization of deferred financing fees 29,220 1,678 

Closing balance $ - $ 555,139 

    

Total long-term debt $ 5,546,081  $ 8,638,709 

   

Current portion of long-term debt $ 2,176,430  $ 7,249,959 

Long-term debt $ 3,369,651  $ 1,388,750  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 



 

30 
 

CE Brands Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

As at March 31, 2022 and 2021 and for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 

 

 
   

  March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021 

Warrants obligation   

Opening balance $ 506,968  $ 1,444,912    

Fair value adjustment (37,544) 79,257 

Expired (150,171) - 

Exercised (319,253) - 

Warrant obligation settlement - (1,017,201) 

Closing balance $ -  $ 506,968  

 

 March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021 

Convertible debenture derivatives   

Opening balance $ 1,702,434 $ - 

Fair value on issuance - 1,471,415 

Fair value adjustment (1,702,434) 231,019 

Closing balance $ - $ 1,702,434 

 
 

Convertible debenture notes  
 

On June 22, 2020, the Company issued a US$1,388,888 Convertible debenture note for proceeds of 
US$1,250,000 (CAD $1,697,250). The Company received cash proceeds of US$339,046 (CAD 
$460,357) with the remaining amount paid directly to a supplier of the Company for the purchases of 
inventory. The note bears an interest rate of 12%. The note includes a conversion feature whereby the 
note principal and any accrued interest are convertible at the lesser of $0.75 per share of the Company 
prior to the close of the Transaction, or 75% of the liquidity event share value if the liquidity event price 
is less than $1. This note matured on June 22, 2021. This note includes an amendment to a previously 
negotiated royalty arrangement which results in additional compensation for the lender. The conversion 
feature and amendment to the management fee resulted in two embedded derivatives, refer below for 
additional disclosure on the convertible debenture derivatives. As the Company did not achieve a 
liquidity event prior to December 31, 2020 the Company was in default on the note and the full amount 
was due on demand. The Company has determined the fair value of liabilities associated with the note 
by determining the fair value of the two embedded derivatives with the residual value being recorded 
to the host debt. Refer to convertible debenture derivatives below for disclosure of the key inputs in the 
valuation of the embedded derivatives. On July 2, 2021, the convertible note was settled in cash with 
$1,388,888 USD in principle and $180,555 USD in interest, for a total payment of $1,569,443 USD 
($1,964,629 CAD). A gain on settlement of $122,497 (note 16) was recognized upon repayment. 

 
On August 31, 2020, the Company entered into a convertible secured subordinated note for $320,254 
in exchange for the settlement of an accounts payable balance of the same amount. The note bears 
an interest of 12% and has a 10-month term. The note is convertible to common shares of the Company 
at $0.50 per share. In accordance with IAS 32, the Company has determined the fair value of liabilities 
associated with the note by discounting the expected future cash flows of the liability component at the 
Company’s effective interest rate of 15.38%. The fair value of the liability component was $317,511 
and the remaining $2,743 was recognized as the equity component of the convertible debt at inception.  
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Accretion of $276 was recorded during the year ended March 31, 2022. At March 31, 2022, the 
Company had settled this debt obligation and recorded a $5,033 loss (note 16) on the settlement of 
the secured subordinated note. 
 
During the year ended March 31, 2021, the Company entered into a series of convertible founders 
loans for a total of $574,660 comprised of cash proceeds of $301,500 and the settlement of an existing 
loan for $273,160. The loans bear an interest rate of 4.5% and have a conversion option at $0.75 per 
share. The loans mature between August 31, 2022, and October 26, 2022. The fair value of the liability 
component was $438,095 and the remaining $136,565 was recognized as the equity component of the 
convertible debt at inception. Accretion of $67,486 was recorded during the year ended March 31, 
2022. 
 
During the year ended March 31, 2021, the Company entered into two additional series of convertible 
Founders Loans for total proceeds of $310,125 and $310,000, respectively.  The loans bear an interest 
rate of 4.5% and have a conversion option at $0.75 per share. The loans mature between October 26, 
2022, and December 31, 2022. The fair value of the liability components was $247,810 and $246,346, 
the remaining $52,315 and $53,655 were recognized as the equity components of the convertible debt 
instruments at inception. Accretion of $26,827 was recorded during the year ended March 31, 2022. 

 
On November 12, 2021, the Company entered into convertible notes with an aggregate principal 
amount of $4,000,000 subject to delayed draws to address the Company’s working capital needs. The 
convertible notes will bear an interest rate of 15.0% per annum on outstanding principal amounts, 
payable on the first and second anniversary of the issue date, unless earlier redeemed or converted. 
The convertible notes will be senior secured obligations of the Company and mature on the second 
anniversary of the issue date. Prior to maturity, the convertible notes are convertible into common 
shares of the Company, at the option of the holders, at a conversion price per share of $1.50. The 
convertible notes are not redeemable by the Company prior to the first anniversary of the issue date. 
The Company issued 2,000,000 warrants as part of the debt financing announced on November 12, 
2021. Each warrant is exercisable at $1.00 per common share for a period of 24 months from issuance 
(note 18). The fair value of the warrants was $355,760 and was determined using a Black-Scholes 
model. Further, $243,528 of transaction costs were recorded at the funding date. The fair value of the 
warrants and the transaction costs have been recorded pro-rata on a net basis to the liability and equity 
components of the convertible note. Amortization of deferred financing costs of $72,778 was recorded 
during the year ended March 31, 2022.  

 
On November 12, 2021, the Company drew $1,000,000 of the convertible notes (“Tranche 1”), on 
December 14, 2021, the Company drew an additional $1,000,000 (“Tranche 2”) of the convertible 
notes, on January 25th, 2022, the Company drew an additional $1,000,000 (“Tranche 3”) of the 
convertible notes, and on February 22nd, 2022, the Company drew the remaining $1,000,000 (“Tranche 
4”) of the convertible notes for total proceeds of $4,000,000 drawn and outstanding at March 31, 2022.  
 
The fair value of the liability component of Tranche 1 was $964,455 and the remaining $35,545 was 
recognized as the equity component of the convertible debt instrument at inception.  Accretion of 
$6,768 was recorded during the year ended March 31, 2022.  The fair value of the liability component 
of Tranche 2 was $966,933 and the remaining $33,067 was recognized as the equity component of the 
convertible debt instrument at inception. Accretion of $5,069 was recorded during the year ended 
March 31, 2022. The fair value of the liability component of Tranche 3 was $964,150 and the remaining  
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$35,851 was recognized as the equity component of the convertible debt instrument at inception.  
Accretion of $3,552 was recorded during the year ended March 31, 2022.  The fair value of the liability 
component of Tranche 4 was $961,561 and the remaining $38,439 was recognized as the equity 
component of the convertible debt instrument at inception.  Accretion of $2,265 was recorded during 
the year ended March 31, 2022. 
 
Senior secured debentures 
 
On August 26, 2020, the company entered into a Shares for Debt Agreement where the company 
issued 502,005 common shares at a deemed price of $0.375 per conversion shares in full payment for 
unpaid interest in relation to the Senior Secured Debenture issued November 8 to November 20, 2019. 
As part of this agreement there was a total of 2,460,000 warrants exercised under the debenture loan 
agreement for total proceeds of $615,000. The terms of the remaining 3,832,770 warrants under the 
loan agreement were modified on August 26, 2020, to fix the exercise price at $0.375 for an exercise 
period of 44 months from the issuance date. Previously, these warrants that were issued with the Senior 
Secured Debentures were classified as financial liabilities because the number of shares to be issued 
by the Company will vary depending on the Company’s share price at the time of a liquidity event. As 
a result of the modification to the terms, the warrants no longer meet the criteria of a financial liability 
which has resulted in the Company derecognizing $1,017,201 of financial liability and recognizing 
$1,240,431 to warrants reserve resulting in a $223,231 loss on the warrant obligation settlement for 
the year ended March 31, 2021. At March 31, 2022, the Company had settled this debt obligation and 
recorded a $344,608 loss (note 16) on the settlement of the senior secured debentures. 

 
Other long-term debt and promissory notes 
 
Other long-term debt and promissory notes consist of a variety of unsecured notes with terms of 
between one and five years, and bear interest rates ranging from nil to 7.5%. 
 
On August 5, 2020, the Company entered into a contract for the sale of US$558,750 in future 
receivables for US$500,000. This contract has a fee of 11.75% and is paid back monthly at a retrieval 
percentage of 6.5% for August 2020, 8.5% for September 2020, and October 2020, and 15% going 
forward. During the year ended March 31, 2022, the Company made payments of $489,647 ($259,719 
– 2021) towards this debt obligation. At March 31, 2022, the Company had settled this debt obligation. 
 
On October 13, 2020, the Company entered into a contract for the sale of US$560,000 in future 
receivables for US$500,000.  This contract has a fee of 12% and is paid back monthly at a retrieval 
percentage of 8.5% for the first two months and subsequently 15% going forward.  During the year 
ended March 31, 2022, the Company made payments of $490,742 (2021 - $158,428) towards this debt 
obligation. At March 31, 2022, the Company had settled this debt obligation. 
 
On March 9, 2021, the Company received loans from a group of founding shareholders for proceeds 
of $425,487.  The loans mature on March 9, 2023 and bear an interest rate of 4.5% per annum. Interest 
and principal is payable upon maturity of the loans.  

 
On March 10, 2021, the Company entered into a contract for the sale of US$690,000 of future 
receivables for US$500,000.  This contract has a fee of 38% and is to be repaid over 8 months at 
US$43,124 for the first month and $92,411 each month for the remaining 7 months. During the year  
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ended March 31, 2022, the Company made payments of $836,838 ($40,540 – 2021) towards this debt 
obligation. At March 31, 2022, the Company had settled this debt obligation.  

 
On July 28, 2021, the Company entered into a contract for the sale of US$1,400,000 of future 
receivables for US$1,250,000 (CAD $1,558,724).  This contract has a fee of 12% and is paid back 
monthly at a retrieval percentage of 8.5% for August 2021, 8.5% for December 2021, and 15% going 
forward. During the year ended March 31, 2022, the Company made payments of $990,027 towards 
this debt obligation. At March 31, 2022, the balance outstanding of this debt obligation was $693,366, 
net of deferred financing fees. This is a financing agreement and the accounts receivables factored still 
carry credit risk, are not sold, and are not derecognized from the Company’s statement of financial 
position. 

 
Line of credit 

 
On March 12, 2021, the Company entered into a two-year revolving line of credit loan in the maximum 
principal amount of up to US$3,000,000 as determined based on certain inventory and accounts 
receivable balances of the Company.  The revolving line of credit has a minimum interest rate of 10.5%.  
The Company withdrew $631,050 (US$500,000) against the line of credit on March 17, 2021, net of 
deferred financing fees of $40,273 (US$31,960). At March 31, 2022, the Company had $nil drawn on 
the line of credit balance.  On May 4, 2022, the Company closed its line of credit.  
 
Warrants obligation 
 
At March 31, 2022, the Company has no outstanding liability warrants. Historically, these warrants were 
granted to certain convertible debenture holders to purchase additional common shares of the 
Company. The warrants were classified as financial liabilities because the number of shares to be 
issued by the Company was variable depending on the Company’s share price at the time of a liquidity 
event. During the year ended March 31, 2022, a total of 164,666 liability warrants were exercised for 
total proceeds of $308,749. Additionally, 120,667 liability warrants expired in the period. 
 
Convertible debenture derivatives related to convertible note issued June 22, 2020 
 
The Company has determined the fair value of the convertible debenture conversion derivative based 
on the present value of the premium received by the lender by converting the notes to equity at time of 
a go public event or prior to maturity.  Since the lender may convert to equity at $0.75 per share at 
anytime prior to maturity and the conversion rate has an adjustment down feature, there is an effective 
floor value for the privilege prior to maturity.  The present value of the equity value after conversion is 
reduced by the present value of the principal obligation to obtain the present value of the conversion 
feature.  Management has used a probability distribution of expected IPO price (between $0.50 and 
$1.65 per share) and delay in months (between 1 and 12 months from issuance) to determine the 
expected present value of the equity value after conversion.  The Company has used the Company’s 
weighted average cost of capital of 36.6% to determine the equity value.  
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The Company has determined the fair value of the convertible debenture fee derivative by discounting 
the expected future cash flows of the fee derivative calculated as 1.5% of expected future cash flows 
from the sale of certain product sales between issuance and December 2023, at the Company’s 
weighted average cost of capital.  On July 2, 2021, the derivative contract expired upon settlement of 
the convertible note.   

 
14.  Revenue 

 

  

Year ended  
March 31, 

2022 

Year ended  
March 31, 

2021 

eCommerce and B2B Product Sales $ 6,881,146 $ 9,275,768 
Digital services revenue 16,118 93,783 
Contract revenue 1,660 919 

  $ 6,898,924 $ 9,270,470 

 
The Company’s revenues from the transfer of goods and services are derived from the following 
geographical regions by location of the customer: 

 
Year ended  

March 31, 
2022 

Year ended  
March 31, 

2021 

Canada $ 701,833 $ 985,062 

United Kingdom 662,016 1,872,516 

United States 3,342,240 4,230,905 

Bulgaria 436,157 39,403 

Russia 210,518 272,700 

Germany 210,760 335,613 

Australia 252,378 741,119 

Other countries 1,083,021 793,152 

 $ 6,898,924 $ 9,270,470 

 
 
15. Officers and directors compensation 

 
Key management personnel include directors and officers of the Company. In addition to their salaries, 
directors and officers participate in the Company’s share option program.  Key management personnel 
compensation comprised of the following: 
 

  
Year ended  

March 31,2022 
Year ended  

March 31, 2021 

Wages and salaries $ 784,692 $ 830,243 

Stock-based compensation expense  58,869 169,264 

  $ 843,561 $ 999,507 
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16. Finance costs  

 

  
Year ended  

March 31, 2022 
Year ended  

March 31, 2021 

Interest expense $ 972,963 $ 1,130,512 

Accretion expense  315,191 2,571,519 

Amortization of financing costs 561,886 76,028 

Loss on financial instrument settlement(1) 225,564 - 

  $ 2,075,605 $ 3,778,059 

(1) Net of gain on disposal of PPE of $1,580. 

 
17. Share capital and loss per share 

 
Issued and outstanding 
 

 Number of  
shares Amount ($) 

Balance at March 31, 2020 15,478,955 $ 14,098,504 

Issuance of subscription units 61,487 178,312 
Issuance of shares 147,248 276,089 
Share issuance costs - (1,101) 
Convertible debentures converted to common shares 1,709,133 3,595,018 
Warrants converted to common shares 544,667 713,750 

Balance at March 31, 2021 17,941,490 $ 18,860,572 

Warrants converted to common shares 202,980 380,601 
Shares issued on reverse acquisition of CE Brands Inc. 414,458 1,316,445 
Shares issued in connection with public offering 4,156,626 10,654,849 
Issuance of shares 2,500,000 1,400,000 
Exercise of options 45,000 52,657 
Share issuance costs - (112,000) 
Convertible debt financing costs - (41,332) 

Balance at March 31, 2022 25,260,554 $ 32,511,792 

 
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares without nominal or par 
value. 
 
The holders of Common Shares are entitled to dividends, if, as and when declared by the board of 
directors, to one vote per share at meetings of the shareholders of the Company and, upon dissolution, 
to share equally in such assets of the Company as are distributable to the holders of Common Shares. 
 
In relation to the reverse acquisition transaction, as described in note 5, on June 18, 2021, the common 
shares of EBN were exchanged on a five-for-one basis (the “Share Exchange”). The Share Exchange 
is reflected retrospectively in these consolidated financial statements. 
 
During the year, 202,980 shares were issued for warrants exercised in the period for proceeds of 
$380,601. 
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On June 18, 2021, the Company completed a public offering (the “Offering”) of 4,156,626 subscription 
receipts (the “Subscription Receipts”) for gross proceeds of $17,250,000, each subscription receipt 
entitles the holder to one common share and one common share purchase warrant. The Company 
converted the Subscription Receipts into a total 4,156,626 common shares (the “Underlying Shares”) 
and 4,156,626 common share purchase warrants (the “Underlying Warrants”), each of which entitles 
the holder to purchase one common share of the Company (a “Warrant Share”), for a purchase of price 
of C$7.50 per Warrant Share, for a period of 24 months following the date on which the Underlying 
Warrant was issued. The Company issued 4,156,626 shares at a price of $4.15 per share. The 
Company paid agents a fee of $1,380,000 and incurred $660,282 in legal fees in connection with the 
public offering which have been recorded as share issuance costs and recognized as a deduction from 
equity. The Company issued 4,156,626 warrants for deemed consideration of $4,047,296 and 332,531 
agent options for deemed consideration of $507,572. Both warrants and agent options have been 
recorded as a reduction in the share capital recognized on the public offering. 
 
On November 12, 2021, the Company closed previously entered into subscription agreements for the 
sale of 2,500,000 common shares of the Company for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately 
$1,400,000 at a price of $0.56 per common share. Total share issuance costs incurred with the 
subscription agreements was $153,332.  
 
Loss per share 
 
The weighted average number of common shares used to calculate basic and diluted loss per share is 
22,681,875 for the year ended March 31, 2022 (2021 – 16,499,244). The Company excluded 
convertible debt, warrants and stock options from the calculation of diluted loss per share as they would 
be anti-dilutive. 
 

18. Warrants reserve 
 
Issued and outstanding 
 

 Number of  
warrants Amount ($) 

Balance at March 31, 2020 2,317,340 $ 2,171,470 
Issuance of subscription units 61,487 52,288 
Issuance of broker warrants 300 - 
Warrant obligation settlement 766,554 1,240,431 
Issuance of warrants 35,815 49,854 

Balance at March 31, 2021 3,181,496 $ 3,514,043 

Warrants exercised (38,315) - 
Warrants expired (2,315,140) - 
Warrants issued in connection with public offering 4,156,626 4,047,296 
Warrants issued 2,112,000 375,683 

Balance at March 31, 2022 7,096,667 $ 7,937,022 
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In relation to the reverse acquisition transaction, as described in note 5, on June 18, 2021, the warrants 
of EBN were exchanged on a five-for-one basis (the “Warrant Exchange”). The Warrant Exchange is 
reflected retrospectively in these consolidated financial statements. 
 
During the year ended March 31, 2022, 38,315 warrants were exercised in exchange for 38,315 
common shares at $1.875 per share for proceeds of $71,852. 
 
The Company issued 4,156,626 warrants as part of the public offering, as per note 5. Each warrant is 
exercisable at $7.50 per common share for a period of 24 months from issuance. 
 
The Company issued 2,000,000 warrants and 112,000 finders warrants as part of the debt financing 
announced on November 12, 2021. Each warrant is exercisable at $1.00 per common share for a period 
of 24 months from issuance. 

 
The key assumptions underlying the valuation of warrants issued in the year were as follows: 
 

 

Public Offering 

November 
Financing - 
Warrants 

Risk-free rate 0.97% 0.98% 

Weighted-average life 24 months 24 months 

Annualized volatility  97.38% 97.27% 

Share price at the date of issuance $3.18 $0.51 

Dividend yield 0% 0% 

Exercise price $7.50 $1.00 
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19. Share based compensation 

 
The Company has an option program that entitles officers, directors, employees and certain consultants 
to purchase shares in the Company. Options granted are exercisable at the market price of the shares 
at the date of grant, have a term of up to five years and vest over one to five years in accordance with 
the terms of the individual grants. 
 
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows: 
 

 2022  2021 

 Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price  
Number of 
options (1) 

Weighted 
average  

exercise price (1) 

      
Outstanding - beginning of 

year 1,395,000 $1.90  1,401,000 $1.80  
Granted during the year 1,056,500 $0.63  142,000 $3.75  

Forfeited during the year (330,000) $1.80  (148,000) $2.85 
Exercised during the period (45,000) $0.05  - - 

CEBI options issued on 
reverse acquisition of CE 

Brands Inc. 41,446 $2.075  - - 
CEBI IPO options issued on 

reverse acquisition of CE 
Brands Inc. 24,096 $2.075  - - 

Agents’ options issued in 
connection with public 

offering 332,531 $4.15  - - 

Outstanding - end of year 2,474,573 $1.76  1,395,000  $1.90  

Exercisable at end of year 1,158,739 $2.50  550,998 $1.75 

(1)
In relation to the reverse acquisition transaction, as described in note 5, on June 18, 2021, the options of EBN were exchanged on a five-

for-one basis (the “Option Exchange”). The Option Exchange is reflected retrospectively in these consolidated financial statements. 
 

On June 18, 2021, the Company issued 41,446 CEBI options, each of which will entitle the holder to 
purchase one share of the Company, at a price of $2.075 per share, for a period of 60 months.  24,096 
CEBI IPO options were issued which entitle the holder to purchase one share of the Company, at a 
price of $2.075 per share, for a period of 24 months. The CEBI options and CEBI IPO options were 
recorded as part of the consideration transferred to the accounting acquirer for its interest in the 
accounting acquiree.  Refer to note 5 for additional disclosure. 
 
On June 18, 2021, the Company issued 332,531 agents’ options in connection with the public offering.  
Each agent’s option will entitle the holder to purchase one share of the Company, at a price of $4.15 
per share, for a period of 12 months. 

 
On December 29, 2021, the Company issued 1,044,500 employee stock options at an exercise price 
of $0.59. The Options shall vest 50% on the first anniversary following the date of the grant and 50% 
on the second anniversary following the date of grant. Upon vesting, Options shall expire on the date  
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that is 24 months from the anniversary of the applicable vesting date such that 50% of the Options shall 
expire on December 29, 2024 and 50% of the Options shall expire on December 29, 2025. 
 

 December 29, 2021 
Option Grant 

Exercise price $0.59 

Annualized volatility 95.98% 

Expected life  2-3 years 

Risk-free rate 0.95% 

Dividend yield 0% 

 

Exercise 
price 

Number of 
options 

outstanding 
Number of options 

exercisable Issue date Expiration date 

 $0.050  135,000   75,000  November 1, 2018 November 1, 2022 – 
November 1, 2025 

 $1.875   914,999   635,666  April 1, 2019 April 1, 2022 –  
April 1, 2024 

 $3.750   60,000   40,000  November 1, 2019 November 1, 2022 – 
November 1, 2024 

 $3.750   30,000   10,000  January 4, 2021 January 4, 2024 – 
January 4, 2026 

 $4.150   4,000  - June 1, 2021 June 1, 2024 –  
June 1, 2026 

 $2.075   24,096   24,096  June 18, 2021 June 18, 2023 
 $2.075   41,446   41,446  June 18, 2021 June 18, 2026 
 $4.150   332,531   332,531  June 18, 2021 June 18, 2022 
 $0.590   924,500  - December 29, 2021 December 29, 2024 – 

December 29, 2025 

 2,474,573 1,158,739   

 
The weighted average remaining lives of the Company’s outstanding options as at March 31, 2022 and 
2021 is 1.86 years and 2.1 years respectively. 
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20. Income tax 
 

Under IFRS, deferred income tax assets may only be recognized to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax losses and deductible temporary 
differences can be utilized. Accordingly, the Corporation has not recognized a total deferred income 
tax asset of approximately $9.5 million as at March 31, 2021. 
 
This difference results from the following items: 

 

 Years ended March 31, 

  2022 2021 

Loss before income taxes $ (10,371,640) $ (14,048,843) 

Statutory income tax rate in Canada 27.0% 27.0% 

Expected income tax recovery (2,800,343) (3,793,188) 

Difference resulting from:   

  Non-deductible items 508,874 799,694 

  Change in unrecognized tax assets 3,333,889 1,686,341 

  Change in rate (1,075,035) 1,305,994 

  Other (3,162) 1,159 

Income tax recovery $ (35,777) $ - 

 
The following table provides a continuity of the deferred income tax asset: 

 

 
April 1, 

2021 

Recognized 
in profit  
or loss 

Recognized 
in equity 

March 31, 
2022 

Property, plant and equipment $ (141,910) $182,376 $ - $ 40,466 
Unrealized foreign exchange - 59,021 - 59,021 
Convertible debentures and debt instruments (64,437) (567,488) 32,803 (599,122) 
Share and debt issuance costs 152,162 194,868 - 347,030 
Non-capital losses 54,185 67,969 - 122,154 
Other - 27,477 2,974 30,451 

  $ - $ (35,777) $ 35,777 $ - 

 

 
April 1, 

2020 

Recognized 
in profit or 

loss 
Recognized 

in equity 
March 31, 

2021 

Property, plant and equipment $ (304,257) $ 162,347 $ - $ (141,910) 
Unrealized foreign exchange - - - - 
Convertible debentures and debt instruments - (64,437) - (64,437) 
Share and debt issuance costs - 152,162 - 152,162 
Non-capital losses 304,257 (250,072) - 54,185 
Other - - - - 

 $ - $ - $ - $ - 
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The Company has $35.6 million (2021 - $27.2 million) in non-capital losses that begin expiring in the 
year 2022. 
 
The Company’s unrecognized deductible temporary differences are as follows: 
 

 Years ended March 31, 
 2022 2021 

Non-capital losses $ (35,120,178) $ (26,918,601) 

 
 
21. Supplemental cash flow information 

 
Non-cash working capital 
 
Net changes in non-cash working capital consists of the following: 

  
Year ended  

March 31, 2022 
Year ended  

March 31, 2021 

Accounts receivable $ (505,713) $ 569,797 

Inventory (444,542) (72,049) 

Prepaid expenses and deposits (645,625) 2,275,901 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities - operating (2,604,952) 439,009  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities – financing (243,528) - 

Non-cash proceeds from convertible debentures (1) - 1,236,893 

Non-cash proceeds from promissory notes - (14,893) 

Change in non-cash working capital $ (4,444,360) $ 4,434,658 

(1) Refer to note 13 for disclosure on non-cash proceeds from convertible debentures. 

 
Income tax paid 
 
During the year ended March 31, 2022, the Company did not pay any cash income tax (year ended 
March 31, 2021 - $nil). 
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Changes in liabilities from financing activities 
 

 Lease liabilities Long-term debt 

Balance, March 31, 2020 $ 267,690 $ 7,631,004 

Cash changes:   

Proceeds of long-term debt - 3,312,537 

Repayment of long-term debt - (570,814) 

Payment of lease liabilities (including interest) (252,410) - 

Total changes from financing cash flows $ (252,410) $ 2,741,723 

Non-cash changes:   

Accretion - 2,571,520 

Fair value loss on warrants obligation - 79,257 

Fair value loss on convertible debenture derivatives - 231,019 

Loss on warrant obligation settlement - 223,230 

Amortization of financing costs - 76,028 

Changes in non-cash working capital - 1,222,000 

Convertible debenture converted to common shares - (3,528,603) 

Equity portion of convertible debenture - (252,411) 

Foreign exchange translation (15,280) (146,656) 

Balance, March 31, 2021 $ - $ 10,848,111 

   

 Lease liabilities Long-term debt 

Balance, March 31, 2021 $ - $ 10,848,111 

Cash changes:   

Proceeds of long-term debt - 5,572,811 

Repayment of long-term debt - (9,221,300) 

Payment of lease liabilities (including interest) (23,433)  

Total changes from financing cash flows $ (23,433) $ (3,648,489) 

Non-cash changes:   

Accretion - 315,191 

Amortization of financing costs - 561,886 

Gain/loss on financial instruments - 227,144 
Equity portion of proceeds from convertible 
debentures - (142,902) 

Debt financing costs - (577,878) 

FV gain on warrant obligations - (506,968) 

FV loss on convertible debentures - (1,702,434) 

Change in non-cash working capital 89,058 41,263 

Foreign exchange translation 452 131,157 

Balance, March 31, 2022 $ 66,077 $ 5,302,030 
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22. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 
 
  Year ended   Year ended  
    March 31, 2022   March 31, 2021 

Accounts payable  $ 1,899,520  $ 4,368,607  

Interest payable  364,131  264,626  

Payroll and related liabilities  131,646   279,243  

Accrued liabilities   840,006  715,763  

Government taxes payable  -  277,379  

    $ 3,235,303   $ 5,905,618  

 
Accounts payable are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. The carrying 
amounts of account and other payables are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their 
short-term nature. 

 
23.    Canada Employment Wage Subsidy Program 
 

During the year ended March 31, 2022, the Company participated in the Canada Employment Wage 
Subsidy program, where payments of $104,615 (year ended March 31, 2021 - $69,746) were received 
under this program served to partially offset employee salaries and wages within operating expenses by 
$104,615 recorded as a reduction of wages and contractors’ expenses (year ended March 31, 2021 - 
$69,746). 

 
24. Commitments 

  The Company has minimum royalty guarantees on Kodak and Motorola licensing. 
 

 
  Less than 1 

year 1-3 years 3-5 years Total 

Royalty payments $  1,771,021 $ 5,269,294 $ 1,688,175 $ 8,728,490 
Purchase orders placed 7,228,397 - - $ 7,228,397 

  $ 8,999,418  $ 5,269,294   $1,688,175  $15,956,887   
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25. Subsequent Events 

On May 24, 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with Choco for the sale of US$2,475,000 
(CAD$3,174,435) of future receivables for net proceeds of US$2,250,000 (CAD$2,885,850) (the “Choco 
Facility”). The funds committed under the Choco Facility will be drawn in three tranches with an initial 
tranche of US$1,250,000 of proceeds available to the Company on close for future receivables of 
US$1,375,000 and is to be repaid over eight months with a retrieval percentage of 15.6%, subject to 
maximum payments of US$154,688 per month for the first four months and US$252,083 per month for 
the remaining four months. The second tranche will be available on or before August 31, 2022, once the 
Company has repaid 22% of the future receivables due on the first tranche, the second tranche will 
provide proceeds of US$500,000 for future receivables of US$550,000. This tranche is to be repaid over 
eight months with a retrieval percentage of 6.3% and maximum payments of US$61,875 per month for 
the first four months and US$100,833 per month for the remaining four months. The third tranche will be 
available on or before October 31, 2022, once the Company has repaid 45% of the future receivables on 
the first tranche and 22.5% of future receivables on the second tranche. The third tranche will provide 
proceeds of US$500,000 for future receivables of US$550,000. This tranche is to be repaid over eight 
months with a retrieval percentage of 6.3% and maximum payments of US$61,875 per month for the first 
four months and US$100,833 per month for the remaining four months. Subsequent to March 31, 2022, 
the initial tranche of US$1,250,000 (CAD$1,616,125) was funded. The funding of tranche 2 and tranche 
3 is subject to the approval of the lender. 

On May 26, 2022, the Company closed a private placement of Convertible Notes for aggregate 
committed capital of $1,000,000 (the “May 2022 Debt Financing”). The Convertible Notes bear interest 
at a rate of 15.0% per annum on outstanding principal amounts, payable on the first and second 
anniversary of the issue date, unless earlier redeemed or converted. Subject to approval of the TSXV, 
interest may be payable, at the option of the holders, either in cash or through the issuance of common 
shares of the Company based on the then market price of the Company’s common shares. The 
Convertible Notes are senior secured obligations of the Company and mature on the second anniversary 
of the issue date. Prior to maturity, the Convertible Notes are convertible into common shares of the 
Company, at the option of the holders, at a conversion price per share of $1.50. The Convertible Notes 
are not redeemable by the Company prior to the first anniversary of the issue date. 

In addition, 500,000 common share purchase warrants (“May 2022 Warrants”) have been issued to the 
holders of the Convertible Notes with each Warrant having an exercise price of $1.00 per share and 
being exercisable on or before the second anniversary of the issue date. 
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On June 20, 2022, the Company entered into a binding term sheet with Vesta Global Stability Fund 
("Vesta") for a Loan Agreement (the “Loan Facility”) for up to a maximum of US$2,000,000 
(CAD$$2,598,800) at an effective annual interest rate of 18% payable monthly based on the total drawn 
amount of the Loan Facility.  The Loan Facility can be drawn over a 12-month period with the initial 
tranche of US$500,000 available July 1, 2022, the second tranche of $US500,000 available August 1, 
2022 and the third tranche of US$1,000,000 available October 1, 2022.  The Loan Facility matures and 
all principal and accrued interest payable on the date which is 12 months following the date of the funding 
and is callable at any time by the lender with 30 days written notice at the lender’s full discretion. 
Availability of the Loan Facility will be subject to there being no material changes within the business or 
operations of the borrower during the funding period. The borrower must inform the lender within 5 
business days in writing of any material changes in the Company and this may result in the termination 
of the Loan Facility and the Company’s ability to access any undrawn amounts. Termination of the Loan 
Facility would force full repayment within 30 days of any drawn amounts plus accrued interest. 


